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APPENDIX A

NOTICE OF VIOLATION

S. W. Cole Engineering, Inc. Docket No. 030-19322
Bangor, Maine 04401 License No. 18-19855-01

As a result of the inspection conducted on June 27, 1985, and in accordance
with the NRC Enforcement Policy (10 CFR 2, Appendix C), the following viola-
tions were identified:

A. Condition 12 of License No. 18-19855-01 limits the use, or supervision of
use, to the physical presence of named individuals.

Contrary to the above, on June 27, 1985, employees not authorized by this
license condition used licensed material at field site locations.

This is a Severity Level IV violation. (Supplement VI)

B. Condition 15 of License No. 18-19855-01 requires that records of inven-
tories required by this License Condition be kept for two years from the
date of the inventory.

.

Contrary to the above, on June 27, 1985, no inventory records were avail-
able for inspection by the Commission.

This is a Severity Level V violation. (Supplement VI)

C. 10 CFR 19.11(a) and (b) require that current copies of Part 19, Part.20,
the license, license conditions, documents incorporated into the license,
license amendments and operating procedures be posted, or that a notice
describing these documents and where they may be examined, be posted.
10 CFR 19.11(c) requires that Form NRC-3, " Notice to Employees," be
posted.

Contrary to the above, on June 27, 1985, neither the documents nor the
notices were posted.

This is a Severity Level V violation. (Supplement VI)

Pursuant to the provisions of 10 CFR 2.201, S. W. Cole Engineering, Inc. is
hereby required to submit to this office within thirty days of the date of the
letter which transmitted this Notice, a written statement or explanation in
reply, including: (1) the corrective steps which have been taken and the re-
sults achieved; (2) corrective steps which will be taken to avoid further
violations; and (3) the date when full compliance will be achieved. Where good
cause is shown, consideration will be given to extending this response time.
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